IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION,
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING,

Case No. SC05-2130 DCA Case No. 1D04-4094

And

VS.

HARTMAN-TYNER, INC.; WEST FLAGLER ASSOCIATES, LTD.; THE ARAGON GROUP, INC., SUMMERSPORT ENTERPRISES, LLLP; and FLORIDA GAMING CENTERS, INC.,

Case No. SC05-2131 DCA Case No. 1D04-3819

APPELLANTS,

LT Case No. 2002 CA 2971

GULFSTREAM PARK RACING ASSOCIATION, INC.

APPELLEE.

APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

STATE OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL REGULATION

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING

Joseph M. Helton, Jr.
Assistant General Counsel

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On April 8, 2002, the Division filed an Administrative Complaint against Appellee. The Administrative Complaint alleged that Appellee violated section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes by participating in an unauthorized exchange of intertrack wagering signals with PPI, Inc. (Pompano). [Def. Ex. 1, D-1]

On April 29, 2002, Appellee filed a motion for an extension to file its answer to the Administrative Complaint. In its motion, Appellee indicated that an extension would be appropriate under the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Key Haven Associated Enterprises, Inc. vs. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, 427 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1982).

[Tr. Def. Ex. 1, D-2]

On December 9, 2002, Appellee filed a Complaint for

Declaratory and Injunctive relief in the Circuit Court of the

Seventeenth Judicial District in and for Broward County,

Florida. [R. 1-16] The Complaint sought relief based upon four

specific counts. Count I claimed that Section 550.615(6),

Florida Statutes, was an unconstitutional special law in

violation of Article III, Section 10 of the Florida

Constitution. [R. 4-6] Count II claimed that Section 550.615(6),

Florida Statutes, violated Appellee's Equal Protection rights.

[R. 6-8] Count III presented a Statutory Construction claim in

which Appellee sought a declaration favoring its interpretation of Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, that Appellee claimed authorized the exchange of intertrack wagering signals between itself and Pompano. [R. 8-9] Count IV presented a claim that Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes is unconstitutionally vague. [R. 9-10]

Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, provides:

(6) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (3), in any area of the state where there are three or more horserace permitholders within 25 miles of other, intertrack wagering permitholders in said area of the state shall only be authorized under the following conditions: Any permitholder, other than а permitholder, may accept intertrack wagers on races or games conducted live by a permitholder of the same class or any harness permitholder located within such area and any harness permitholder may accept wagers on games conducted live by any jai alai permitholder located within its market area and from a jai alai permitholder located within the area jai specified in this subsection when no permitholder located within its market area is conducting live jai alai performances; any greyhound or jai alai permitholder may receive broadcasts of and accept wagers on any permitholder of the other class provided that a permitholder, other than the host track, of such other class is not operating a contemporaneous live performance within the market area.

In response to the Complaint the Department filed a Motion to Dismiss or Transfer for Venue. [R. 17-19] The motion was granted by the Circuit Court and this matter was transferred to the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Leon County, Florida. [R. 37]

The Division filed its answer to Appellee's Complaint on June 11, 2003. [R. 86-92] The Division's answer contained an affirmative defense alleging that Appellee failed to exhaust administrative remedies. [R. 91]

Intervenors filed their Motion to Intervene on July 1, 2003. [R. 100-116] Appellee filed its memorandum in opposition to the motion to intervene. [R. 126-132] In their Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Intervene, the Intervenors argued that the effect of intertrack wagering under Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, upon their pari-mutuel permits that are located within Broward and Dade Counties and the reverse severability clause for Chapter 96-364, Laws of Florida, which is now codified in Section 550.71, Florida Statutes, would be of sufficient impact upon them as to authorize their intervention. [R. 133-138] The Motion to Intervene was granted by an Order entered on August 29, 2003. [R. 142]

Appellee filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on August 27, 2003, which it amended on October 8, 2003. [R. 139-141 and 178-242] The Division filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies on September 5, 2003. [R. 155-163] Intervenors filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on October 27, 2003. [R. 328-359] These motions were heard by the trial court on October 30, 2003, and denied by the court's Order dated January 9, 2004. [R. 597-602]

At trial, Appellee presented the testimony of Mr. Louis
Cross, III, an expert in cartography, Douglas Donn, Appellee's
corporate representative, and Dr. Richard Thalheimer, an expert
economist, along with five exhibits.

Mr. Cross testified regarding the geographic locations of pari-mutuel wagering permitholders in Florida. During his testimony, Appellee offered its Exhibit 4. This exhibit was used in conjunction with the overall testimony presented regarding mileage areas referenced in Sections 550.054 and 550.615(6), Florida Statutes. [Trans. 31-38]

Mr. Cross' testimony during direct and cross examination showed that there were two areas of the state with three horse race permitholders located within 25 miles of each other in 1996. [Trans. 36-37; 44-45] During cross-examination, Mr. Cross also demonstrated that removing Jefferson County Kennel Club from his maps would create an area where there would be no parimutuel permitholders within the 100 mile buffer provided by Section 550.054, Florida Statutes. [Trans. 39-40]

In Mr. Donn's testimony Appellee asserted that its interpretation of Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, was the correct interpretation authorizing the exchange of intertrack signals with Pompano. [Trans. 71, 84, 104, 107-8] Mr. Donn testified regarding the effect of the Division's interpretation of the statute on intertrack wagering. [Trans. 71-2, 75-6, 80,

82-4, 103-4] Mr. Donn specifically stated that the last quarter horse meet attempted was five to seven years ago. [Trans. Page 64, Lines 22-24]

Appellee also presented the testimony of Dr. Richard
Thalheimer, an expert economist, to support its contention that
Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, had the effect of
thwarting state revenues and those revenues would increase if
the statute were declared unconstitutional. Dr. Thalheimer's
projection was based upon the assumption that the two
thoroughbred permitholders in the area would participate in
unlimited simulcasting. [Trans. 185-186]. However, he admitted
he made no inquiry as to whether Tropical Park or Calder would
participate. [Trans. 187] Further, Mr. Dunn testified that he
had no authorization to speak at trial on behalf of Calder
Racetrack or Tropical Park. [Trans. 101, 138] Section
550.615(5), Florida Statutes, provides that "[n]o permitholder
within the market area of a host track shall take an intertrack
wager on the host track without the consent of the host track."

The Division presented a composite exhibit containing an a copy of a motion for an extension to respond to the Administrative Complaint filed by the Appellee.

On July 26, 2004, the trial court issued its Final Declaratory Judgment from which Appellee and Intervenors appealed. [R. 749-759] The Final Declaratory Judgment made no

mention of the testimony of either Dr. Thalheimer or Mr. Donn and concludes by finding that Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, does not violate the due process clauses of the Florida or United States Constitutions and that it is not void for vagueness. [R. 758]

On August 24, 2004, Intervenors filed their Notice of Appeal. [R. 760-722] The Division filed its Notice of Appeal in August 25, 2004. [R. 773-785]

On September 2, 2004, Appellee filed its Plaintiff's Notice of Cross Appeal. [R. 786-798]

On August 31, 2005 the District Court issued an opinion finding section 550.615(6) to be an unconstitutional special act. State, Dep't of Bus. and Prof'l Regulation v. Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n, Inc., 912 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005).

On September 15, 2005 the Appellants and the Division filed Motions for Rehearing and Rehearing in Banc, which were denied on October 21, 2005.

On November 18, 2005 Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal and the Division on November 21, 2005 filed its Notice of Appeal for review in this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court decision on the constitutionality of a statute is reviewed by the *de novo* standard, because it presents a pure issue of law. When a trial court has declared a statute unconstitutional, the reviewing court must begin the process of appellate review with a presumption that the statute is valid. State, Dep't of Ins. v. Keys Title and Abstract Co., 741 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal erred in applying a reasonableness standard to Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, as though that section was created in 1996. The error appears be have been made because of a fundamental misunderstanding of the history of Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes.

The statutes governing intertrack wagering in high concentration market areas serve to balance the interests of protecting all pari-mutuel wagering revenue streams. Promotion of the economic viability of pari-mutuel wagering venues is a valid state interest. *Ocala Kennel Club v. Rosenberg*, 725 F. Supp. 1205 (M.D. Fla. 1989). How to best balance competing interests in regulating legalized gambling is within the prerogative of the legislature. *Fitzgerald v. Racing Ass'n of Cent. Iowa*, 539 U.S. 103 (2003).

Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, which contained the language describing the disputed area as any area of the state where three or more horserace permit holders are located within 25 miles of each other, was created in Chapter 92-348, Laws of Florida. At that time, consent from all permitholders in the 25 mile area was required in order to conduct intertrack wagering to protect the economic viability of those permitholders. The vast majority of the statutes creating the pari-mutuel wagering statutory scheme, including those regulating intertrack wagering

were sun set under provisions of Chapter 91-197, Laws of Florida.

Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, was amended by Chapter 96-364, Laws of Florida. The amendments allowed for some intertrack wagering in the area along with other changes, including those to allow for full card simulcast. Again the legislature struck a balance between opening the transmission of wagering signals with the protection of individual revenue streams from various tracks. Thus, the statute's history demonstrates that the there is a rational basis for the classification contained in the statute both at the time of its creation in 1992 and of its amendment in 1996.

The First District applied a reasonableness standard which has never before been applied in special act cases. The standard is whether the statute creates a class which is not possible to duplicate in the future. Department of Bus.

Regulation v. Classic Mile, 541 So. 2d 1155, 1158 (Fla. 1989)

A reading of the provisions of Chapter 550, Florida

Statutes, demonstrates that the area defined in Section

550.615(6), Florida Statutes, is capable of duplication. If it is possible in the future for others to meet the criteria set forth in the statute, then it is a general law and not a special law. Ocala Breeder's Sales Co., Inc. v. Florida Gaming Ctrs.,

Inc., 731 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). Since the area

described in Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, can be duplicated, the statute is not an unconstitutional special act.

In a constitutional challenge to the validity of any statute, the trial court has an affirmative obligation to give the challenged statute a construction that will uphold the act if at all possible. Miami Dolphins, Ltd. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 394 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 1981). In Count III of its Complaint, Appellee offered its own preferred construction of Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, which it contends authorizes intertrack wagering between itself and Pompano. Court erred in ruling that Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, was an unconstitutional special act while still being offered an inconsistent theory giving a construction of the statute which the Appellee continued through trial to assert as correct. Key Haven, 427 So. 2d 153, provides that only a facial challenge to the constitutionality of a statute may proceed prior to the requirement that the complainant exhaust its administrative remedies. A challenge to an agency's interpretation of the statutes it governs is not exempt from the requirement that administrative remedies be exhausted. Therefore, the First District Court of Appeal should have reversed for failure of the Appellee to exhaust its administrative remedies.

ARGUMENT

- I. The First District Court of Appeal Erred in Declaring Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, an Unconstitutionally Enacted Special Law.
 - A. The First District erred in finding Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, was an Unconstitutional Special Act because the phrase "any area of the state where there are three or more horserace permitholders within 25 miles of each other" was enacted in 1992, not 1996.

The history of Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, demonstrates that the First District Court of Appeal erred in determining that the statute was an unconstitutional special act and that there is a rationale basis supporting the statute. The First District's opinion in State, Dep't of Bus. and Prof'l Regulation v. Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n, Inc., 912 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of the history of the statute.

The First District overlooked the fact that the operative phrase "any area of the state where there are three or more horserace permitholders within 25 miles of each other" was enacted during a special session in 1992, not 1996. Regardless of whether a reasonableness standard is correct, it must be applied to the legislation at the time it was passed. Otherwise a validly enacted general law could be overcome by events and lose its general status thus becoming a special act by virtue of changes in facts after the law is enacted. Indeed, the First District seems to have been of the impression that properly

enacted statutes can be overcome by events when it stated that quarterhorse racing is "a thing of the past" which is a clear present time evaluation of the facts presented at trial in 2004.

The area described in Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, was created in Chapter 92-348, Laws of Florida, which reenacted the operative provisions of the pari-mutuel statutes after the majority of the statutes had been repealed via sun set provisions contained in Chapter 91-197, Laws of Florida. Among the repealed provisions that were reenacted were those creating the intertrack wagering scheme. The 25-mile area was included in the original language of the statute and remained unchanged by the 1996 act. Prior to the enactment of Chapter 96-346, Laws of Florida, Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes (1995), read as follows:

(6) In any area of the state where there are three or more horserace permitholders within 25 miles of each other, no intertrack wager may be taken by any permitholder without the consent of all operating permitholders within 25 miles of each other. (Underline added.)

Evidence presented at trial showed that the requirement of obtaining consent from all operating permitholders within 25 miles of each other precluded intertrack wagering in the area.

[Trans. 55, 109-110, 116]

While based upon an equal protection claim the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Fitzgerald*, 539 U.S. 103,

regarding a balancing of interests is instructive as the policy discussions regarding classification in special act cases often involve equal protection claims. In recognizing that legislation often involves balancing of sometimes-conflicting interests, the Court held:

The Iowa Supreme Court could not deny, however, that the Iowa law, like most laws, might predominantly general objective, helping serve one say, racetracks, while containing subsidiary provisions that seek to achieve other desirable (perhaps even contrary) ends as well, thereby producing a law that balances objectives but still serves the objective as a whole. See Railroad Retirement Bd. v. Fritz, 449 U.S. 166, 181, 101 S. Ct. 453, 66 L.Ed.2d (1980)(STEVENS, J. concurring judgment)(legislation if often the "product multiple and somewhat inconsistent purposes that led to certain compromises.")

Id. at 108.

In Summersport Enters., Ltd. v. Pari-Mutuel Comm'n, 493 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), a case which also included an equal protection claim, this Court found the validity of classifications of pari-mutuel permitholders are further strengthened by the fact those laws regulate legalized gambling. In Hialeah Race Course, Inc. v. Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n, 37 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 1948), the Florida Supreme Court found:

The state has become pecuniarily interested in racing

because of the revenue from the pari-mutuel betting. Authorized gambling is a matter over which the state may exercise greater control and exercise its police power in a more arbitrary manner because of the noxious qualities of the enterprise as distinguished

from those enterprises not affected with a public interest and those enterprises over which the exercise of police power is not so essential for the public welfare.

Id. at 694.

Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, which contained the language describing the disputed area as any area of the state where three or more horserace permit holders are located within 25 miles of each other, was created in Chapter 92-348, Laws of Florida. At that time, consent from all permitholders in the 25 mile area was required in order to conduct intertrack wagering to protect the economic viability of those permitholders. The vast majority of the statutes creating the pari-mutuel wagering statutory scheme, including those regulating intertrack wagering were sun set under provisions of Chapter 91-197, Laws of Florida.

There was also rational basis for the statute after the amendments to Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, in 1996. Prior to the amendments the language section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes (1995), clearly provided significant protection to tracks located within the affected area from losing business to other intertrack wagering conducted at other tracks located in their market area. The present version of section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes, provides a balance between the desire to allow

intertrack wagering in the area and the protection of individual market areas.

In Ocala Kennel Club v. Rosenberg, 725 F. Supp. 1205 (M.D. Fla. 1989), the court upheld a 100-mile statutory limitation for new permits for the protection of the revenue producing capacity and promotion of the economic viability of existing pari-mutuel wagering facilities as valid under the large umbrella of the state's interest in revenues generated by pari-mutuel operations. Therefore, the First District erred in substituting its judgment for that of the Legislature in relying on the Appellee's expert regarding the impact of unlimited intertrack wagering presented at trial in 2004 because there is clearly a rationale basis for the statute. Thus, the statute's history demonstrates that the there is a rational basis for the classification contained in the statute both at the time of its creation in 1992 and of its amendment in 1996.

Under Fitzgerald, 539 U.S. 103, balancing such legitimate objectives in pursuit of the overall goal of increasing revenue was within the prerogative of the legislature in 1992 and 1996. Further, both versions of Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes were created by large pari-mutuel acts which addressed a multiplicity of subjects, Chapters 92-348 and 96-364, Laws of Florida, which again within the broad purview of the legislature in addressing legalized gambling. Thus the First District erred

in substituting its judgment for that of the legislature regarding the overall classification in Section 550.615(6), Florida Statutes.

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