IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS.: SC05-2130

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING,

Appellants,

v.

GULFSTREAM PARK RACING ASSOCIATION, INC.

Appellee.

APPELLEE'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District

CYNTHIA S. TUNNICLIFF Florida Bar Number: 134939 PETER M. DUNBAR Florida Bar Number: 146594 PENNINGTON, MOORE, WILKINSON, BELL & DUNBAR, P.A. 215 South Monroe Street - 2nd Floor (32301) Post Office Box 10095 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-2095 Telephone: 850/222-3533 Facsimile: 850/222-2126

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court and District Court of Appeal correctly held that § 550.615(6), Fla. Stat., is an unconstitutional special law. A general law may apply to a specific geographic location if it is reasonably related to the purpose of the statute. The purpose of § 550.615(6) is the regulation of intertrack wagering between jai alai, greyhound and harness permitholders, but is described as an area of the state "where there are three or more horse race permitholders within 25 miles of each other." There is no reasonable relationship between the subject matter of the statue and the description of the area. Moreover, the uncontroverted evidence is that the statute applies only to one area of the state and will never apply to any other area. As such, it is an unconstitutional special act.

The doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies was not timely raised and, in any event, is inapplicable to this case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT § 550.615(6) IS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL SPECIAL LAW.

Article III, Section 10 of the Constitution of the State of Florida prohibits "special laws" unless a "notice of intention to seek enactment thereof has been published in the manner provided by general law" or the law "is conditioned to be effective only upon approval by vote of the electors of the area affected. "Special law" is defined as a "local law" in Article X, Section 12(g). Section 550.615(6) was enacted as a general law.

A local law is "a statute relating to particular subdivisions or portions of the state, or to particular places of classified locality." <u>See Carter v. Norman</u>, 38 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1948). A "special law" is a statute relating to particular persons or things or other particular subjects of a class. *Id.* A special law is not converted into a general law by the Legislature treating it and passing it as a general law. "[E]ven though a bill is introduced and treated by the Legislature as a general law, if the bill in truth and in fact is clearly operative as a local or special act and the court can so determine from its obvious purpose or legal effect as gathered from its language or its context, this court will so regard it and deal with it as a local or

special act in passing on its validity, regardless of the guise in which it may have been framed and regardless of whether the particular county or locality intended to be affected by it is in terms named or identified in the act or not." *Dept. of Bus. Reg. v. Classic Mile, Inc.*, 541 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1989) [citing *Anderson v. Board of Public Instruction*, 136 So. 334 (Fla. 1931)].

A general law may apply to a specific geographic area if the classification of the area is reasonably related to the purpose of the statute. State, Dept. of Nat. Resources v. Leavins, 599 So. 2d 1326 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). In order for a general law which employs a classification scheme to be valid the factors used to establish the classification must have a rational relationship to the primary purpose of the statute. Classic Mile, Inc., supra; City of Miami v. Magrath, 824 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002). "A statute is invalid if 'the descriptive technique is employed merely for identification rather than classification'," Classic Mile, 541 So. 2d at 1159 (citing West Flagler Kennel Club, Inc. v. Florida State Racing Comm., 153 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1963). In West Flagler, the court held a statute invalid as an unconstitutionally enacted special law because the classification was based on the time of issuance and usage of a permit and the purpose of the statute was to provide for harness racing in Broward County.

In Classic Mile, the Supreme Court struck down a statute authorizing

simulcast horse racing and pari-mutuel wagering thereon because there was no reasonable relationship between the statutory classification scheme and the subject of the statute. The classification there was also based on time of issuance and usage of a permit. The court held that the purported classification scheme was merely descriptive of a particular county. Similarly, in *Magrath*, the court struck down a law which permitted municipalities with a certain population to enact a parking facility tax. In invalidating the statute, the court held that classifications based on population must be reasonably related to the purpose of the statute.

The area described in § 550.615(6) is an area of the state "where there are three or more horse race permitholders within 25 miles of each other." The purpose of the statutory subsection appears to be the regulation of intertrack wagers between jai alai, greyhound and harness permitholders. It specifically excludes thoroughbred permitholders from its application, but nonetheless uses horse race permitholders as the basis for describing the area in which the statute is to operate.

There is no reasonable relationship between the subject matter of the statute - the regulation of intertrack wagering among certain permitholders - and the description of the area of the state in which the regulation is to apply - an area where there are three or more horse race permitholders within 25 miles of each

other. It is undisputed that the only area of the state to which § 550.615(6) applies is an area in Dade County and Broward County. That is the only area of the state which contains three or more horse race permitholders within 25 miles of each other. The statute uses an area which contains "three or more horse race permitholders" simply as a technique to describe the area in Dade County and Broward County to which the statutory regulatory scheme is to apply. The identification of the area, however, has no relationship to the purpose of the statute which is the regulation of intertrack wagers for greyhound, jai alai, and harness permitholders.

The District Court stated that it was "unable to uphold the statute as a general law of limited applicability because the classification it makes bears no reasonable relation to the subject regulated," citing *McGrath, supra*; *Dept. of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club*, 434 So. 2d 879, 881 (Fla. 1983); and *Carter v. Norman, supra*. The District Court continued by citing the evidence in the trial court as showing that no legitimate state interest is promoted by prohibiting thoroughbred permitholders in one limited area of the state from engaging in intertrack wagering. This is true whether or not any credit is given to the testimony of Dr. Thalheimer. The issue here is not whether Dr. Thalheimer's evidence is given any weight. The testimony, which is challenged by Appellants,

was based on unrestricted intertrack wagering. Dr. Thalheimer also testified that if Gulfstream were the only thoroughbred facility to take advantage of the lifting of the statutory restriction, it would still have a net positive effect on state revenues (TR: 197). This testimony was uncontradicted. The District Court pointed out that the trial court noted that the parties had failed to explain the basis for the statute's classification and the parties were unable to offer any reasonable basis for the classification when questioned at oral argument before the District Court.

In determining if a reasonable relationship exists between the purpose of the statute and the classification to which it applies, one of the factors which is determinative is that "the classification is potentially open to other tracks." *Dept. of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club*, 434 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1983). As the District Court correctly held, the law imposes a "reasonable" standard on the courts determination of whether an area of the state can be replicated. *See City of Coral Gables v. Crandon*, 25 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1946). Appellants cite *Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club* for their erroneous contention that the District Court Opinion here deviates from earlier special act cases. *Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club* was addressing a statute that provided for the conversion of a harness track permit to a dog racing permit based upon certain income and tax revenue levels. The Court there quite correctly found that the class was open – others could potentially meet

the revenue levels – and that the classification was reasonably related to the purpose of the statute. Such is not the case here.

Summersport Enterprises, Ltd. v. Pari-Mutuel Commission, 493 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. den., 501 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 1986), also offers little comfort to Appellants The provision of the statute at issue in that case was not the allowance of the conversion from quarter horse permit to jai alai, but rather the provision which did not allow the jai alai fronton to conduct matinee performances unless the permittee under the permit as it existed prior to the conversion had conducted matinees. The Court upheld the provision against a special act claim stating that it applied to any quarter horse permitholder that converted to a jai alai permit. The identified area contained in § 550.615(6), Fla. Stat. can never be reasonably duplicated anywhere in the state. It only identifies a particular area in Dade County and Broward County where there are "three or more horse race permitholders within 25 miles of each other" and certain harness, jai alai, and greyhound tracks.

Florida law prohibits permits to be issued within certain mileage parameters so that there can never be another area of the state which replicates the area in Dade and Broward Counties to which subsection (6) applies. Section 550.054, Fla. Stat., provides in part: In addition, an application may not be considered, nor may a permit be issued by the division or be voted upon in any county, to conduct horse races, harness horse races, or dog races at a location within 100 miles of an existing pari-mutuel facility, or for jai alai within 50 miles of an existing pari-mutuel facility; this distance shall be measured on a straight line from the nearest property line of one pari-mutuel facility to the nearest property line of the other facility.

The Defendant admits that currently the only area of the State to which § 550.615(6) applies is located in Dade and Broward Counties where the Plaintiff is located (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, \P 4).

Mr. Cross testified that due to the mileage restriction in § 550.054(2), Fla. Stat., the only location in the State where a new pari-mutuel facility could be located is Key West, Florida (TR: 36). However, when one facility of any kind is located in Key West, then no other facility could be located there. *Id.* This testimony was accepted by the trial court in arriving at its conclusion that there was at the time of the enactment and now precisely one area of the state which meets the statutory description. Indeed, the District Court relied on this evidence stating:

The evidence presented in this case plainly shows that there is no reasonable possibility that section 550.615(6) will be applied in another area of the state. Someone would have to obtain a thoroughbred permit in Key West, which would then be subject to the prohibition against intertrack wagering in the statute only if two other stand-alone quarter horse permits were issued in Key West, and then only if all three horse racing tracks were located within twenty-five miles of each other. Alternatively, the Department would have to issue a stand-alone quarter horse permit in a twenty-five mile area that includes an existing thoroughbred permit holder and at least one other horse racing permit holder.

Although quarter horse permits are not subject to the mileage restricting, Mr. Donn's uncontradicted testimony was that three or more quarter horse permits could not be located within a 25-mile area. First, quarter horse racing does not attract enough people to make it successful. Second, the only location where three or more pari-mutuel facilities could be located is in Key West and it does not have sufficient land or population to support such facilities. Similarly, this testimony supported the trial court decision and was quoted extensively in the District Court Opinion.

The area described in § 550.615(6), Fla. Stat., is an area in Dade and Broward Counties which has three horse race permits, harness racing, jai alai and greyhound racing. That factual situation cannot be reasonably duplicated anywhere in the state. There is no other harness track in the State and with the mileage restrictions, there never will be another harness track (TR: 67). The evidence overwhelmingly demonstrates that the description in § 550.615(6) intentionally and specifically targeted the area of Dade and Broward Counties for unique regulation of intertrack wagering which is not applicable in any other area of the State. Moreover, the uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that it is not reasonable to assume that the area will be replicated anywhere else in the State.

Section 550.615(6) is an unconstitutional special act because the operative phrase is descriptive only and not reasonably related to the purpose of the statute which is the regulation of intertrack wagering. Furthermore, the statute refers to only one area of the State and will never apply to any other geographic area.

POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF EXHAUSTION OFADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES IS NOTAPPLICABLE TO THE INSTANT CASE.

A. ISSUE WAS NOT PROPERTY RAISED.

Rule 1.140(h), Florida Administrative Code, provides that:

(1) A party waives all defenses and objections that the party does not present either by motion under subdivision(b) (e) or (f) of this rule or, if the party has made no motion, in a responsive pleading . . .

In this case, the Department filed a Motion to Dismiss or Transfer Venue when the case was still pending in Broward County. That is a Rule 1.140(b) motion. This Motion did not contain as grounds for a motion to dismiss, failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The commentary under the rule specifically states that "All defenses and objections, whether provided for by that rule or by any of the other rules or by statute are waived." The defense or objection was therefore waived under the clear language of the rule. Moreover, it was not addressed by the District Court of Appeal and is, therefore, not properly before this Court.

B. FACIAL CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE CAN BE BROUGHT IN CIRCUIT COURT.

It has been clear since *Key Haven Associated Enterprises v. Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund*, 427 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1983), that if a statute being implemented by an agency is claimed to be facially unconstitutional, circuit courts may entertain declaratory action on the statute's validity. The instant case is a facial challenge to the constitutionality of § 550.615(6).

In *Florida Public Employees v. Department of Children & Families*, 745 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), this Court held: "In accordance with Key Haven reasoning, the appellants were entitled to present their constitutional question in a declaratory judgment action in circuit court despite having initiated and not completed the administrative process."

The counts of the Complaint which were litigated clearly involve the facial constitutionality of § 550.615, Fla. Stat., *i.e.*, whether it was an unconstitutional special law, violated constitutional guarantees of equal protection or was unconstitutionally vague.

Count III of the Complaint sought a declaratory judgment on the application of § 550.615 to the specific facts of this case. The count, however, was never

argued to or decided by the circuit court. Moreover, it clearly does not present an "as applied" argument which should have been presented in an administrative forum.

Even if Count III had presented an "as applied" constitutional argument, it would not be grounds to dismiss the facial constitutional arguments. <u>See Chrysler Corporation v. Florida Department of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles</u>, 720 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). In Chrysler Corporation, Chrysler sought an adjudication in circuit court of both a facial and an "as applied" constitutional challenge to a statute while there was a pending administrative proceeding. This Court held that the facial challenges should be resolved in circuit court and the "as applied" constitutional challenges should be dismissed. In the instant case the Court relied on the three counts which raised facial challenges and did not address Count III of the Complaint. Its failure to dismiss the Complaint under these facts is not reversible error.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the decision of the District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.